RECEIVED

DEC 28 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

FULL COMMISSION

Appellate Case No.: 2022-001546

Monica Murphy, Claimant.....Appellant,

v.

Halocarbon Products Corporation, Employer, and Commerce & Industry Insurance Company c/o
AIG Claims, Inc., Carrier.....Respondents.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Frederick I. Hall, III
The Rick Hall Law Firm, LLC
301 Gibson Road
Lexington, SC 2972
(803) 957-5333
(803) 957-7717 facsimile
rick@sctrilattorneys.com
S.C. Bar No. 2591
Attorney for Appellant

ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. The substantial evidence rule provides that evidence cannot be viewed blindly from one side. There is undisputed evidence from the Employer's own experts, which is consistent with evidence from Claimant's experts, that Murphy had a significant exposure to HF which could have caused the Claimant's heart and lung injuries. The Commission ignored this evidence. Is the Commission's decision based on substantial evidence?**
- 2. In medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment. "[M]edically complex cases" under S.C. Code § 42-1-160 means sophisticated cases requiring highly scientific procedures or techniques for diagnosis or treatment. *Id.* Both Murphy's and Defendant's HF experts agree that a prolonged QT interval on an ECG is evidence of a significant HF exposure. Was it error to ignore this evidence?**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a medically complex workers' compensation case involving an admitted exposure to a lethal chemical known as hydrofluoric acid (HF). The Single Commissioner heard the case in a hearing which lasted approximately 4 hours on April 27, 2017. The Single Commissioner entered an order denying compensability of the claim on March 12, 2018, finding that although there was an injury, it was not of sufficient magnitude, duration or amount to have caused any permanent heart or lung injuries. She further found that the Employee's version of the facts was not credible, though the evidence was in conflict. The Employee (Murphy) filed a Form 30 Request for Commission Review on March 22, 2018 setting forth 12 assignments of error and questions for appeal on her attachment to the Request. An Amended Attachment A was filed to correct certain matters in the assignments of error on April 11, 2018.

Ms. Murphy alleged she was injured on August 11, 2015 while she was taking waste to an outside disposal area, when she was suddenly overwhelmed by a draft of chemical odors, fumes and vapors as she proceeded to open a door to a satellite area in the plant near the end of her shift at approximately 5:30 a.m. Murphy alleged she sustained serious and permanent injury to her heart, lungs, and suffered post-traumatic stress disorder, all of which has been causally related by her treating doctors to her exposure to HF, which is one of the most lethal chemicals used in all of industry.

HF is well-known to cause delayed, as well as immediate, symptoms to the heart, lungs and systemic parts of the body. Murphy sought an order from the Commission finding that she was injured in the course and scope of her employment due to her exposure to HF, and a finding of permanent and total disability, payment of all causally related medical expenses, Dodge Medical expenses, medical evaluations for the claimant's inability to smell, taste and such other medical evaluations as in the opinion of the Commission could lead to further delineation as to the extent of Ms. Murphy's injuries.¹

In an appeal to the Full Commission, Murphy requested that the Commission find that the Single Commissioner's findings were not supported by the substantial, reliable and probative evidence on the whole record, and were clearly erroneous. Additionally, Murphy alleged that the Single Commissioner's finding that the expert report of Dr. Philip Edelman, a highly qualified physician, environmental toxicologist and who served as a medical doctor at the Centers for Disease

¹ Claimant proceeded at the hearing only on the issue of compensability, temporary total benefits and additional medical treatment, and held in abeyance the issue of permanent disability.

Control in medical toxicology was not timely submitted rebuttal evidence is manifest legal error and should be reversed.

The Appellate Panel of the Full S.C. Workers' Compensation Commission entered an Order affirming the Single Commissioner's findings on July 23, 2018, from which a timely appeal was filed. This Court reversed the Full Commission in an Unpublished Opinion filed June 2, 2021, in *Murphy v. Halocarbon Products Corporation*, 2021 WL 229025, with instructions to admit the Report of Philip Edelman, one of Murphy's experts which was submitted as rebuttal evidence and to consider his report on remand. *Id.* at *2. The Appellate Panel and Full Commission entered its Decision and Order on October 18, 2022, and again affirmed the findings of the Single Commissioner, with amendments. Murphy timely filed Notice of Appeal with this Court on October 26, 2022.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This incident arises out of Monica's Murphy's employment as a lab technician at Halocarbon Products, Corp. (Halocarbon), which is a chemical manufacturer of products such as sevoflurane. Sevoflurane is used in general anesthesia. (Tr. pp. 14-18; R. pp. 284-288). One of the chemicals used in the process of manufacturing sevoflurane is hydrofluoric acid (HF). *Id.* HF or Hydrogen Fluoride Anhydrous is very pure and has no water in it. It fumes at concentrations greater than 40% and at 67° Fahrenheit. (Tr. p. 18, R. p. 288; Mackinnon Dep. pp. 26-27, R. pp. 424-425). It is very corrosive and a serious health hazard. *Id.* Prior to her employment at Halocarbon, Murphy had worked many years at the Savannah River Plant as a lab technician. *Id.* Her duties ranged from metallurgy to liquid process sampling. She had also worked as an E.N.T. and OSHA Coordinator. She takes safety very seriously.

During the early morning hours of August 11, 2015, as Ms. Murphy's shift was ending around 5:30 a.m., she was taking waste to an organic satellite area for disposal. (Tr. p. 20; R. p. 290). Ms.

Murphy was in full acid gear or personal protective equipment at the time, which included a lab-coat, acid apron, neoprene gloves, face-shield, and safety glasses. Id. In order to reach what Murphy described as the process area where the chemicals are manufactured, she had to go through the control room and entered through a door which is pictured in APA No. 23, p. 222; R. p. 711. The danger sign on the door is on the outside of the door, opposite from where Murphy entered into the satellite area to dispose of waste. (Tr. pp. 21-24; R. pp. 291-294). There is a grated floor or walkway upstairs on the second floor. (Tr. p. 22; R. p. 292). On the morning of the accident, as she pushed the door open, Murphy got resistance. She pushed harder to open the door and a draft of air entered, which she inhaled, and she immediately noticed a pungent, sharp, chemical odor. (Tr. p. 25; R. p. 295). She began coughing, like a choking cough and got "several breaths." Id. She then pulled the door closed and felt as she was going to collapse. Id.

There was no barricade or warning at the door she opened. (Tr. p. 26; R. p. 296). No one had told Murphy not to open the door. (Id. p. 27; R. p. 297). No one had told her there was an HF leak in the area, which violated safety protocols. Id. Murphy took at least three, no more than four breaths because she was coughing and choking. Id. She saw no one in the area at that moment, but she had seen another operator, Lonnie Parsons, in the area earlier when she was dumping organic waste. (Tr. p. 29; R. p. 298).

After she closed the door, she took her container, held her breath and proceeded down an interior corridor to another door where she had previously dumped organic waste and observed that Lonnie Parsons was out there. He was up on the second level where they process sevoflurane

and other chemicals. (Tr. p. 30; R. p. 299). The area is pictured in APA No. 23 p. 217.² (R. p. 710).

Murphy then heard Parsons coming down the steps from above her and he was waving his arms at her to not come where he was. Her heart was pounding, and she was experiencing shortness of breath. (Tr. p. 31; R. p. 300). Murphy told Parsons she had inhaled an awful chemical when a draft of air came in on her. Parsons told her it was HF. Id. She was in a state of disbelief. Parsons told Murphy he would dump her flammable waste. (Tr. p. 32; R. p. 301).

After Parsons dumped the waste, Murphy, still stunned, walks toward Parsons to get the empty waste container and notices two carboys (black, plastic, industrial containers) one of which is unvented and is fuming a billowing white smoke, over two feet high. (Tr. p. 33; R. p. 302). The area in which the carboys were located is pictured in APA No. 23 p. 217; R. p. 710. The carboy that was fuming was located closest to the door where the fumes entered the building and is not shown in APA No. 23 p. 217; R. p. 710 but was in the area. Murphy asked Parsons if the fuming carboy that was billowing was HF and he looked at Murphy as if he were in a state of shock. (Tr. p. 35; R. p. 304).

At this point, Murphy's heart is pounding out of her chest, and she is short of breath. She feels overwhelmed. As she gets to the top of the stairs, she hears a noise and turns toward the way she goes back to the lab. She vaguely recalls seeing another operator George Campbell, coming up the other stairs. She went straight to the lab and told her workers that she had inhaled HF. (Tr. p. 36; R. p. 305). She also told the assistant production supervisor, Chip Babb, that she had inhaled

² References to some APA Submission page numbers have been corrected from some of the designated APA page numbers which are in the Appellant's Brief as filed with the Commission because they did not refer to the correct APA page numbers. Many of these pages were renumbered because of supplemental submissions made after the first hearing was continued.

HF and had seen a billowing carboy. (Tr. p. 38; R. p. 307). Although safety protocol required that she be given calcium gluconate, she was not administered this antidote. (Tr. p. 39; R. p. 308). She did ask Babb for it. Id. Babb then told Murphy that there were leaks in the 3-K system. (Tr. p. 40; R. p. 309).

When Murphy asked for the calcium gluconate nebulizer, Babb told her she just needed fresh air. (Tr. p. 40; R. p. 309). Murphy's mouth was dry and her sinuses were burning. Id. She testified, "I was having coughing, and then my throat started feeling as if it was closing up." (Tr. p. 41; R. p. 310). She asked for some water. Id. Her co-worker, Janice Tierney told Murphy her face was red, except where her safety glasses fit. (Tr. p. 42; R. p. 311). Before she left work around 7:00 a.m., Murphy notified her supervisor in writing about what had happened. (Tr. p. 43; R. p. 312). She then went home and began having abdominal pain, diarrhea, and weakness. She self-medicated with calcium chews, but was still having headaches, and burning in her throat and sinuses. (Tr. p. 44; R. p. 313). She also received a text from Emily Parrish, her supervisor, and responded with a request to get medical attention. Id. She then returned to work for her evening shift on the same day, August 11, 2015. She also received a call from either Ken McDowell- the Safety Supervisor- or Ms. Parrish and that they wanted her to go to Urgent M.D. (Tr. p. 45; R. p. 314). When she arrived at Urgent M.D. she saw a physician's assistant by the name of Timber Wages, and heard Ken McDowell, who met her there, tell the P.A. that Ms. Murphy had been exposed to 40% HF. She was not given any medication but did receive a "regular check." They checked her reflexes and listened to her chest and heart. Id. She was released to go back to work with no restrictions, but continued having symptoms, including headaches, burning in her throat, shortness of breath and coughing. (Tr. p. 46; R. p. 315). Prior to this event, Ms. Murphy's general health was very good. Id.

Murphy went through a divorce in 2007 and had what she described as a racing heart, but her cardiologist, Dr. Cundey, attributed this to the stress of her divorce. (Tr. pp. 47-48; R. pp. 316-317). She was also hospitalized with kidney stones in 2010 and had a little tachycardia. (Tr. p. 48; R. p. 317). Her doctor told her that this was attributable to the body's response to fever and infection. Id.

When Murphy returned to work on the evening shift on August 11, 2105, the same day of the accident, her symptoms worsened. She was having shortness of breath, and all of the symptoms described above. She returned to Urgent M.D. on August 13th, 2015 but did not receive any treatment there. (Tr. p. 54; R. p. 322). She was referred to the emergency room at University Hospital in August, Ga. for evaluation. She did receive a nebulizer treatment of albuterol on August 13, 2015 at the hospital, which is the first treatment she had received. (Tr. p. 55; R. p. 323).

After the visit to the ER on August 13, and being out for several days, Ms. Murphy returned to work on August 19th to light duty. (Tr. p. 56; R. p. 324). But her condition deteriorated. Her headaches and pain worsened and she asked Ken McDowell, Halocarbon's safety director, if she could go to the emergency room. He did not grant her permission. (Tr. pp. 58-59; R. pp. 326-327). No one helped her.

Eventually, Murphy did go to Urgent M.D. on August 19th in North Augusta, which documented that Ms. Murphy had an abnormal EKG, read as a conduction abnormality- reported as chronic in nature, but which her treating cardiologist, Dr. Kellie Lane, later read as 3rd degree heart-block. According to Dr. Lane, Ms. Murphy should have been hospitalized at this point. (Lane Dep. pp. 8-9; R. pp. 452-453). A patient in complete heart block is at risk of sudden death. (Id. p. 11: 1-11; R. p. 454). Dr. Lane opined in her deposition that the exposure was the cause of a vasovagal response triggered by severe coughing and choking related to Ms. Murphy's exposure

to HF. She testified, "We did think that this was very much related to what had been going on with the respiratory issues." Q. And therefore with the exposure? A. Yes, was the cause, yes." (Lane Dep. pp. 17: 25 to 18: 1-5; R. pp. 457-458). The chemical HF is well-known to cause cardiac arrhythmia and Ms. Murphy did have this. (Lane Dep. p. 15: 13-15; R. p. 455). Dr. Lane opined within a reasonable degree of medical certainty that, "Ms. Murphy had an issue with [her heart] the rhythm related to the exposure [to HF] primarily related to the severe respiratory issues she was experiencing." (Lane Dep. p. 15: 22-25; R. p. 455). She testified:

13 Q. And did Ms. Murphy have cardiac

14 arrhythmias?

15 A. She did.

16 Q. Do you have an opinion, within a

17 reasonable degree of medical certainty, whether her

18 temporal exposure to hydrofluoric acid had any impact

19 on these arrhythmias?

20 A. Yes.

21 Q. What is your opinion?

22 A. I believe that this patient had an issue

23 with the rhythm related to the exposure primarily

24 related to the severe respiratory issues that she was

25 experiencing.

Lane Dep. p. 15: 13-25; R. p. 455.

Ms. Murphy's symptoms deteriorated further on August 21, 2015 while she was at work when she started feeling light-headed, like she could faint. (Tr. pp. 63-64; R. pp. 331-332). She

was weak and sick but was told she could not go to the ER. Her supervisor said, "I have a place back where you can work." She did a breathing treatment and as she entered the warehouse workspace area but felt as if she was going to faint. (Tr. p. 64; R. p. 332). Shortly thereafter, she began feeling like she was having problems breathing, worse than shortness of breath and told her supervisor that she was "in respiratory distress." (Tr. p. 66; R. p. 334). Murphy began having chest pain.

Halocarbon called EMS and when they arrived, they began administering calcium gluconate. (Tr. pp. 66-67; R. pp. 334-335). Ultimately EMS transported Murphy to University Hospital where she had a pacemaker put in as she was on the verge of complete cardiac arrest. She has had a constellation of symptoms and diagnoses related to this exposure, including Reactive Airways Dysfunction (RADS), heart-block, cardiac arrhythmias, and dysrhythmias, and post-traumatic stress disorder.

The Chemical Hydrofluoric Acid

The Safety Data Sheet published by LanXess, the manufacturer of the brand of HF used by Halocarbon Products, Corp. (Halocarbon) denotes HF as a dangerous chemical in the Hazards Identification Section of the Safety Data Sheet. (SDS) The Hazards Identification Section of the SDS states that HF is "Fatal if Swallowed, in contact with skin, or if inhaled." (APA p. 183; R. p. 704) If the product is inhaled, the SDS urges the victim to "Get medical attention immediately." (APA p. 184; R. p. 705). The SDS also instructs to "Call a physician immediately," if inhaled. Id. Halocarbon did not comply with this safety dictate, and thus, this led to serious medical complications which the SDS warns against. Specifically, inhalation of HF "may cause pulmonary edema with symptoms of breathing difficulty, and tightness of the chest." Further, "[the] product may have a direct toxic action, resulting in a fall of blood pressure and cardiac arrhythmia." (APA

p. 185; R. p. 706). The product is also “corrosive with symptoms of coughing, burning, ulceration and pain.” Id. Pulmonary symptoms may be delayed for several hours up to several days. Id. According to a SDS Revision date of March 18, 2015 in the case of inhalation, the protocol requires safety personnel to “Take victim immediately to hospital.” (APA p. 197; R. p. 707). The Revised SDS of March 18, 2015 denotes the “Most important symptoms and effects, both acute and delayed,” are in cases of inhalation: Breathing difficulties, sore throat, and nose bleeding. There is a risk of hypocalcemia and cardiac arrhythmia. Id.

Halocarbon’s own Contingency Plan in cases of inhalation calls for the immediate movement of the victim to fresh air and to “arrange immediate transportation to University Hospital.” (APA p. 201; R. p. 708). It goes further to state that, “Even in case of suspect slight inhalation, the victim should be brought to the hospital for observation. The symptoms of HF inhalation (pulmonary edema) can be delayed and serious.” Id.

According to Halocarbon’s Safe HF Handling protocol:

Hydrogen Fluoride is a very strong acid used at Halocarbon as a source of fluorine in the production of several different chemicals. Hydrogen fluoride is used in its anhydrous (meaning without water or dry) form at Halocarbon. **Pure liquid anhydrous HF fumes copiously when exposed to the atmosphere (its normal boiling point is only 67°F)**, as do mixtures containing more than about 50 % HF. HF, even in low concentrations, can severely burn the skin and eyes and be fatal if swallowed. The fumes from pure HF or HF- containing mixtures are dangerous to the skin, eyes and respiratory system. Exposure to HF can cause serious and painful burns if not treated promptly. **HF can also cause a range of delayed effects that may not show for many hours or days after initial exposure if not treated properly, even when the exposure is minimal.** (Emphasis added)

Halocarbon Products Corporation Safe Handling, APA p. 204; R. p. 709.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

This appeal is governed by the substantial evidence rule which applies in workers' compensation cases and S.C. Code §1-23-380 (1976, as amended).

ARGUMENT

- I. The substantial evidence rule provides that evidence cannot be viewed blindly from one side. There is undisputed evidence from the Employer's own experts, consistent with evidence from Claimant's experts, that Murphy had a significant exposure to HF which could have caused the Claimant's heart and lung injuries. The Commission ignored this evidence. The Commission's decision is therefore not based on substantial evidence and must be reversed because it is clearly erroneous and unreliable.**

The substantial evidence rule applies in South Carolina Workers' Compensation cases. *Lark v. Bi-Lo, Inc.*, 276 S.C. 130, 276 S.E.2d 304 (1981). The standard of review in cases appealed from the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission is laid down in the South Carolina Administrative Procedures Act, which provides in relevant part as follows:

- (5) The court may not substitute its judgment for the judgment of the agency as to the weight of the evidence on questions of fact. The court may affirm the decision of the agency or remand the case for further proceedings. The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:
- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
 - (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
 - (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
 - (d) *affected by other error of law;*
 - (e) *clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or*
 - (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion. (emphasis added)

S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380.

"Substantial evidence" is not a mere scintilla of evidence nor evidence viewed blindly from one side of the case, but is evidence which considering the record as

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