THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM SOUTH CAROLINA
WORKERS' COMPENSATION COMMISSION

Appeal No.: 2022-001546

RECEIVED

Nov 21 2022

SC Court of Appeals

Monica Murphy, Employee,Appellant,

v.

Halocarbon Products Corporation, Employer, and
Commerce & Industry Insurance Company
c/o AIG Claims, Inc., Carrier, Respondents.

INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS

McANGUS GOUDELOCK & COURIE, LLC
Helen F. Hiser
735 Johnnie Dodds Blvd., Suite 200
P.O. Box 650007
Mount Pleasant, South Carolina 29465
(843) 576-2900

James H. Lichty
Meridian, 1320 Main Street, 10th Floor
P.O. Box 12519
Columbia, South Carolina 29211
(803) 779-2300

*Attorneys for Respondents Halocarbon Products

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

ARGUMENTS

I. The Commission properly found that Claimant failed to meet her burden of proving a compensable injury from her August 11, 2015 exposure.

As a preliminary matter, Claimant essentially has abandoned her entire first issue because she fails to cite any legal authority in support of her argument. Other than

referencing *Lark*⁸ and the standard of review portion of the Administrative Procedures Act, she has presented this court with “no legal authority to support her argument.” See *Potter v. Spartanburg Sch. Dist.* 7, 395 S.C. 17, 24, 716 S.E.2d 123, 127 (Ct. App. 2011), citing *Pack*, 381 S.C. at 532, 673 S.E.2d at 464. Here, as was the case in *Potter*, Claimant’s Brief “suggests other facts that could have been considered by the Appellate Panel, [but she] gives this court no substantive legal authority upon which to rely.” 395 S.C. at 24, 716 S.E.2d at 127. As a result, her first argument on appeal, which is no more than a biased recitation of highly selective evidence in an apparent attempt to convince this Court to abandon the proper standard of review by overturning the Commission’s resolution of conflicting evidence, should be deemed abandoned.

Nonetheless, and out of an abundance of caution, Respondents address the substance of Claimant’s first argument. Although Claimant pays lip service to the applicable standard of review, she then proceeds to cherry pick certain pieces of evidence or statements, in isolation, in order to argue that the evidence supports her claim. Claimant erroneously asserts that the Commission “mishandled” or “ignored” certain evidence favorable to her case and that, as a result, its Decision is not supported by substantial evidence. On the contrary, there is ample, substantive, reliable and probative evidence in this record to support the Commission’s determination that Claimant failed to meet her burden of proving she suffered any compensable injuries from her August 11, 2015 exposure.

⁸ The other case cited by Claimant, *Law v. Richland County Sch. Dist.*, 270 S.C. 492, 243 S.E.2d 192 (1978), not a workers’ compensation case, was cited in *Lark* in its discussion of the “substantial evidence” rule, but adds nothing substantive to her Brief.

A. Claimant failed to prove a significant exposure to HF.

Claimant begins her argument by alleging that “contemporaneous memos of this incident for the most part indicate that it was pure HF to which Murphy was exposed.” (App. Br. p. 11). However, it is entirely understandable that the memos in response to Claimant’s allegations of HF exposure just reference “the HF leak” since that is what was being investigated. Furthermore, some of the contemporaneous documents mention “HF, TFAC, or TFA” in reference to the leak. (See Cl. APA p. 166). Critically, the Supervisor’s Incident Report, filled out by Mr. Babb on the date of the exposure indicates that Claimant was exposed to “Trace HF fumes.” (Cl. APA pp. 167, 169, 182). Thus, even if the HF was “pure,” as Claimant suggests but which is not conceded, it was only a trace amount of vapor or fumes that she actually inhaled. As Mr. McDowell explained, the amount of HF in the air was so small that it was not measurable. (Tr. p. 142, lines 5-16). Furthermore, Claimant’s argument disingenuously attempts to conflate the potential concentration of HF in the pipe with the level in the air to which she was exposed, many feet away. Finally, it is axiomatic that it is not Employer’s burden to disprove her case; instead, it is Claimant’s burden to prove she is entitled to benefits under the Act, including exposure and causation. *E.g.*, S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(E) (“[i]n medically complex cases, an employee shall establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment”); *Crisp v. SouthCo, Inc.*, 401 S.C. 627, 641, 738 S.E.2d 835, 842 (2013), quoting *Clade v. Champion Labs.*, 330 S.C. 8, 11, 496 S.E.2d 856, 848 (1998) (a “claimant has the burden of proving facts that will bring the injury within the workers’ compensation law, and such award must not be based on surmise, conjecture or speculation”). Claimant has not and cannot prove she was exposed to “pure” HF.

Claimant argues that the Commission should have found her claim compensable because substantial evidence supports her claim, and that Employer’s own documents “prove the case.” Not only is her statement incorrect (Employer’s own documents prove she was exposed to some trace levels of HF, but provide no support for her claim that she suffered serious or permanent injuries, (*see* Cl. APA pp. 167, 169, 179, 182), but it is nothing more than an attempt to circumvent her failure to “establish by medical evidence that the injury arose in the course of employment.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(E); *see also Smith v. Michelin Tire Corp.*, 320 S.C. 296, 299, 465 S.E.2d 96, 97 (Ct. App. 1995) (in a medically complex case, causation must be established by competent medical evidence).

B. Claimant failed to prove her heart block was caused by her HF exposure.

Claimant then offers up pieces of evidence that she argues support her claim that her heart block was caused by her exposure to HF, inviting this Court to abandon the proper standard of review and become the *defacto* fact-finder. (App. Br. pp. 13-37). However, what Claimant fails to acknowledge—in fact what she studiously avoids—is the substantial conflicting evidence in the record as well as the well-established rule that, where there is a conflict in the evidence, either by different witnesses or the testimony of the same witness, the factual findings of the Commission are conclusive. *E.g., Anderson*, 343 S.C. at 492-93, 541 S.E.2d at 528; *Sharpe*, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105; *see also Lockridge v. Santens of Am.*, 344 S.C. 511, 518, 544 S.E.2d 842, 846 (Ct. App. 2001) (upholding Commission denial of benefits where one expert attributed heart attack to work but the other expert “either would not or could not”).

As was noted to the Commission, even Claimant’s own experts disagree about whether there is any causal link between her HF exposure and her heart block. On one hand, Dr. Lane, who is a general cardiologist, testified that the heart block was due to the “severe coughing that [Claimant] had” in response to the HF exposure. (Lane Dep. p. 15, line 13 – p. 16, line 25). Dr. Lane based this opinion, articulated for the first time at her deposition,⁹ on Claimant’s unsupported report of a vasovagal episode when she was pregnant with her son many years prior. (Lane Dep. p. 21, line 11 – p. 22, line 17; *see also* Cl. Dep. p. 9, lines 10-12 (Claimant’s daughter was born in 1987 and her son was born in 1989)). Dr. Lane maintained this opinion despite acknowledging that she had not seen any medical documentation confirming a prior vasovagal episode. (Lane Dep. p. 23, lines 1-17).

On the other hand, Dr. Setaro pointed to her low phosphorous levels and prolonged QT interval in arriving at his conclusion that Claimant’s HF exposure “was a substantial causative factor in the development of life-threatening third degree electrical heart block.” (Cl. APA pp. 240-242). Another of Claimant’s experts, Dr. Edelman, opined that “HF cardiac complications are classically attributed to the low ionized calcium magnesium and other electrolyte abnormalities that occur.” When presented with Dr. Lane’s theory that “coughing was a contributing factor to the development of the complete heart block,” he could only opine “that it is *biologically plausible* that” the HF exposure “was a co-contributor to this process.” (Cl. APA p. 299) (emphasis added).

⁹ Notably, on cross-examination, Dr. Lane admitted that she had discussed this case for “about 30, 40 minutes” with Claimant’s counsel prior to her deposition. (Lane Dep. p. 20, lines 16-22).

Thus, even Claimant's own experts cannot agree on how her HF exposure allegedly caused or contributed to her heart block.

Moreover, Dr. Aquilina, Claimant's treating cardiac electrophysiologist, (Aquilina Dep. p. 4, line 21 – p. 5, line 8), flatly disagreed with Dr. Lane's causal opinion, stating that a vasovagal reflex is completely unrelated to development of Claimant's heart block. If a vasovagal response causes a heart block, it would be a "transient" or "very intermittent heart block" for which he would not have inserted a pacemaker. (Aquilina Dep. p. 12, line 17 – p. 14, line 1; p. 17, lines 3-14). Dr. Aquilina testified that the causes of heart block are unknown and, as a result, he could not testify as to what caused Claimant's heart block. (Aquilina Dep. p. 6, line 22 – p. 9, line 2 ("we do see heart block in all age groups throughout patients' lives and we don't really know what causes them most of the time"); p. 10, lines 3-11). He testified that low phosphorus, or hypophosphatemia, rarely causes heart block, "not that I've ever seen actually." (Aquilina Dep. p. 18, line 21 – p. 19, line 8). Tellingly, Claimant does not even discuss Dr. Aquilina's deposition testimony.

Other experts agree with Dr. Aquilina. Dr. Feldman opined both that "it is physiologically improbable that there is a causal relationship between Hydrofluoride inhalation exposure and high-grade heart block," and that it was "of low medical certainty that a chronic vaso-inhibitory reflex would result in a chronic complete heart block," disagreeing with Dr. Lane's opinion that a vasovagal cause resulted in Claimant's complete heart block. (Def. APA pp. 424-425). Dr. Early also concluded that Claimant's "8-21-15 arrhythmia and subsequent pacemaker are not attributable to or aggravated by her HF exposure." (Def. APA p. 401).

Thus, not only do Claimant's treating physicians disagree as to the cause of her heart block, there is substantial evidence supporting the Commission's findings and conclusion that she failed to meet her burden of proving it arose from her HF exposure. *See, e.g., Anderson*, 343 S.C. at 492-93, 541 S.E.2d at 528 (where there is a conflict in the evidence, either by different witnesses or the testimony of the same witness, the factual findings of the Commission are conclusive); *Sharpe*, 336 S.C. at 160, 519 S.E.2d at 105 (same); *see also Lockridge*, 344 S.C. at 518, 544 S.E.2d at 846 (same).

Apparently recognizing the weakness of her case, Claimant points to alleged "discrepancies" in Dr. Mackinnon's testimony and alleges that they prove her case. First, she mischaracterizes the testimony and evidence, asserting that "one of the most significant clinical factors associated with HF induced heart block is prolongation of the QT interval on electrocardiogram." (App. Br. p. 15). While Dr. Mackinnon agreed that a prolonged QT interval would be "some evidence" of an HF exposure, he explained that "[t]here are other causes for QT interval changes," and that "had there been a significant exposure, yes, you're going to get QT interval changes." (Mackinnon Dep. p. 42, lines 16-22). He also testified that, if there had been a significant exposure to HF, the prolonged QT interval "should happen within a very relatively short time, a number of hours, after the exposure." (Mackinnon Dep. p. 43, lines 15-24).¹⁰ Dr. Mackinnon's testimony falls short of establishing a prolonged QT interval as "one of the most significant clinical factors," and certainly does not prove either that Claimant "had a

¹⁰ The first mention of a "Prolonged QT" was in Dr. Hobbs' notes from August 21, 2015, (Cl. APA p. 44), a full ten days after Claimant's exposure.

significant exposure” to HF,¹¹ or that her prolonged QT interval resulted from her minimal HF exposure. Second, Dr. Mackinnon readily agreed that he would defer to a cardiologist as to whether there was any causal link between Claimant’s HF exposure and her heart block. (Mackinnon Dep. p. 62, line 24 – p. 73, line 7). Finally, despite Claimant’s colorful language regarding incomplete medical records and evidence, (App. Br. pp. 18, 26), she had an opportunity at his deposition to present Dr. Mackinnon with whatever additional medical records, including Claimant’s version of her exposure, she felt he should see. Importantly, Dr. Mackinnon confirmed that none of the information Claimant’s counsel presented at his deposition changed his January 27, 2017 opinion. (Mackinnon Dep. p. 60, line 25 – p. 61, line 4).

Claimant takes issue with Dr. Early’s opinion, and the Commission’s “heavy reliance on the lack of abnormal electrolyte findings ...” (App. Br. p. 25). Dr. Early noted the references in the August 21-24, 2015 medical notes to a phosphate level of 1.1, but pointed out that that was ten days after her exposure. A number of experts, including Dr. Early, opined that a low phosphate (or other electrolyte level) found 10 days after the incident would not be due to Claimant’s HF exposure. Dr. Early explained that

¹¹ Incongruously, Claimant asserts that Mr. Campbell’s testimony establishes that her exposure to HF fumes was substantial because he testified that it took his breath away. (App. Br. p. 20). Mr. Campbell also testified that it made his eyes burn and caused him to cough. However, he explained that, “the worst part of it probably lasted about five minutes if that, but after that, after I got some air, it cleared up.” (Tr. p. 175, lines 7-16). Furthermore, he testified that he experienced no long-term breathing, heart or any other health problems from his HF exposure. (Tr. p. 176, line 212 – p. 177, line 4). This is yet another instance of Claimant cherry picking evidence in an attempt to convince this Court to abandon proper application of the substantial evidence standard of review. Moreover, Mr. Parsons passed the “billowing” carboy twice when he dumped the slops for Claimant, without any ill effect. The fact that Mr. Campbell, who worked in the area for eight hours, and Mr. Parsons both were exposed far longer than was Claimant is further evidence that the concentration of HF on the patio on August 11, 2015 was not at a life-threatening level.

“[e]lectrolyte abnormalities are usually noted in the first 24 hrs., after exposure, but sometimes can occur up to 48 hrs after exposure. It would be highly unusual to have normal electrolytes at 48 hours after exposure and then develop a phosphate of 1.1 on day 10 and have this be due to HF exposure.” (Def. APA pp. 397-399). Even Dr. Lane’s notes indicate that “[n]o known exposure ... would cause this degree of heart block without an electrolyte abnormality. That is not present.” (Cl. APA p. 66). Dr. Aquilina, while acknowledging that phosphorous is an electrolyte, testified that he had never seen a case where one reading of low phosphorus caused an irregular rhythm. (Aquilina Dep. p. 18, line 25 – p. 19, line 10 (adding, “I would not consider that one thing”)).

Interestingly, having fought so hard to have Dr. Edelman’s expert report included in the Commission record, Claimant allots only one short paragraph to his opinion. Apparently, even Claimant does not ascribe much weight to Dr. Edelman’s opinion except to echo his ambivalent opinions that the onset of her heart block was “*probably* more rapid than was actually diagnosed initially,” and that “it is *biologically plausible* that that the direct toxicity of HF would have been a co-contributor to her complete heart block.” (Cl. APA pp. 299-300) (emphasis added).

Dr. Edelman’s opinion is, at best, equivocal and does not satisfy the standard required by S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-160(E)&(G). Additionally, his opinion is contradicted by other, more reliable medical evidence. From the outset, Dr. Edelman’s opinion is based on his assumption that she “was exposed for up to three minutes before leaving the area.” (Cl. APA p. 296). This finding is in conflict with Claimant’s own testimony, which is that she took three but no more than four breaths, did not fully open the door, which was open only “seconds,” and she did not go all the way or go through it.

(Tr. p. 27, lines 20-22; p. 30, lines 13-17; *see also* Cl. Dep. p. 72, lines 10-11; p. 66, line 13 – p. 67, line 2; p. 71, lines 5-6). Dr. Edelman opined that the conduction abnormality noted on August 19, 2015 “was most likely complete heart block.” (Cl. APA 297). However, the medical records that suggested a conduction abnormality indicate that it was “*chronic (i.e., non-industrial)* in nature.” (Cl. APA p. 16) (emphasis added). Clearly, Dr. Edelman did not have an opportunity to evaluate Claimant on August 19, 2015 and can only rely on the records of medical professionals who did.

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